
 
Minutes 

Board of Natural Resources 
Georgia Southern University  

Nessmith-Lane Conference Center 
Ballroom (#1601) 
847 Plant Drive 

Statesboro, GA 30458 
 

June 25, 2013 
 

Attending: 
 
Board Members Staff Members 
Rob Leebern, Chairman Mark Williams 
Philip Wilheit, Vice Chairman Jud Turner 
Ray Lambert, Secretary Homer Bryson 
Nancy Addison Spud Woodward 
William Bagwell Dave Crass 
Dwight Davis Dan Forster 
Duncan Johnson Becky Kelley 
Bill Jones Eddie Henderson 
Aaron McWhorter Steve Friedman 
Mark Mobley Kyle Pearson 
Mike Phelps Lauren Curry 
Paul Shailendra Zachary Harris 
Bodine Sinyard Cathy Barnette 
Mark Smith Taylor Brown 
Philip Watt Wally Woods 
Dee Yancey John Bowers 
 John Biagi 
Visitors Jan Sammons 
Neill Herring Nap Caldwell 
Harlan Proveaux Stephanie Busch 
James Hayes Doralyn Kirkland 
Connie Hayes Jeff Weaver 
Lynn Lewis-Weis, National Wild Turkey Federation Walter Rabon 
Barbara LoRusso John Martin 
Lance LoRusso Mark Whitney 
Ronny Just, Georgia Power Keith Bentley 
Emily Markesteyn, Ogeechee Riverkeeper Cindy Miller 
Al Hackle, Statesboro Herald Bob Lynn 
Rayban Anderson Jeff Swift 
Bob Lane Scott Klingel 
Dallas Whitman Mary Walker 
Willis Wood Jeff Cown 
Phil Odom, Liberty Regional Water Council                                                          Stephen Adams 
John Edwards, Peaceofficers Association of Georgia Bill Donahue 
Todd Holbrook, Georgia Wildlife Federation  
Don Cheek 

Ronnie Phillips 

Reggie Dickey, Georgia Hunting and Fishing Federation  
 



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 2 
 
 
Bobby McLemore, Ben Hill County Sheriff 
Ladson O’Connor, Montgomery County Sheriff 
Scott Brunson, Statesboro Police Department 
Jon Burns, Georgia House of Representatives 
Ben Stowers, Natural Resources Foundation 
Bill Archer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 3 
 
 

The June 25, 2013 meeting of the Board of Natural Resources was called to order by Chairman 
Rob Leebern. 
  
 Chairman Leebern stated he would like to thank Georgia Southern University for their 
hospitality. He further stated he would like to thank all the guests in attendance. 
  
 Chairman Leebern called for a motion to approve the minutes of the May 2013 meeting. 
  
 A motion was made by Mr. Watt, seconded by Mr. Sinyard and carried unanimously that the 
Board approve the minutes of the May 2013 meeting. 
  
 Chairman Leebern called on Mark Williams, Commissioner of the Department of Natural 
Resources, for his report. 
 
 Commissioner Williams stated he would like to thank Georgia Southern University for their 
hospitality, on behalf of the DNR staff. He further stated he would like to thank Russell Keen, Leigh Price, 
and Suzanne Tatum for their work in organizing the tour, dinner, and meeting.  
 
 Commissioner Williams recognized the Chairman of the House Game, Fish, and Parks 
Committee, Jon Burns, who was in attendance.  
  
 Commissioner Williams called on Jud Turner, who called on Jim Ussery. 
 
 Mr. Ussery was presented with a framed Resolution by Chairman Leebern honoring his faithful 
years of service and retirement from DNR. Director Turner stated his appreciation of Mr. Ussery’s 
dedication to the Environmental Protection Division and the state of Georgia.  
 
 Mr. Ussery stated he was thankful for his time at EPD and his appreciation for the DNR Board 
members.  
 
 Chairman Leebern called for a motion to adopt the Resolution as presented.  
 
 A motion was made by Dr. Watt, seconded by Mr. Lambert and carried unanimously to adopt 
the Resolution. (Resolution attached hereto and made a part hereof) 
 
 Commissioner Williams called on Homer Bryson, Deputy Commissioner of the Department of 
Natural Resources, to present the proposed amendments of Rule 391-1-1-.01 and the repeal of Rule 
391-1-1-.02. 
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated the Board had been briefed on this item at the May 21, 
2013 Board meeting. 
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated the purpose of the proposed rulemaking was to update, 
consolidate, and streamline the description of the Department to reflect its current organizational 
structure. He further stated the proposed amendments would remove references to the “Pollution 
Prevention Assistance Division” and the “Program Support Division.” He added the proposed 
amendments would add a “Law Enforcement Division.” 
 
  



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 4 
 
 

Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated a public hearing was held in the DNR Board Room on June 
4, 2013. He further stated during the public comment period, two main concerns were raised. 
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated one concern that was raised centers on having fewer Law 
Enforcement officers in the Department. He further stated that over the past five years, DNR has seen a 
reduction of 768 employees, some of which were law enforcement officers and park employees.  
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated that Parks provided 57,550 hours of law enforcement 
efforts on state parks last year. He further stated that by redirecting these hours to Conservation 
Rangers park patrols, Parks would have a greater opportunity to focus on outreach to users and 
increasing their sustainability.  
  
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated the second concern asserts that the reorganization would 
change the culture of DNR’s Law Enforcement. He further stated that the mission and focus of DNR’s 
Law Enforcement will not change whether it is a Law Enforcement Section or a Law Enforcement 
Division. He added that legislation and regulations set by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service dictate that 
certain funds can only be used for specific Law Enforcement activities.  
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated he would request the Board approve the item as 
presented.  
 
 Mr. Shailendra stated he had heard there will be no Law Enforcement on state parks following 
the reorganization. He further stated he would request that Deputy Commissioner Bryson address this 
issue.  
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated that following the reorganization, Conservation Rangers 
will incorporate parks and historic property sites into their patrol areas. He further stated that this 
transition will be gradual, which will allow Parks and Law Enforcement leadership to assess law 
enforcement needs on a site-to-site basis.  
 
 Dr. Watt asked if the creation of a Law Enforcement Division would be taking focus away from 
traditional game warden activities. He stated he would request that Deputy Commissioner Bryson 
address this issue.  
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated the vision and mission of the Department of Natural 
Resources, including Law Enforcement, will not change due to the creation of this division. 
 
 Ms. Addison stated she had heard concerns about the lack of public involvement in this process. 
She stated she would request that Deputy Commissioner Bryson address this issue.  
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated the public had three separate opportunities to speak on 
the proposed rulemaking. He further stated there was a public comment period during which the public 
could comment by telephone, email, or written response. He added he had also met with various 
stakeholder groups to receive their input.  
 
 Mr. Lambert asked if there were available statistics regarding the number of violations reported 
by Wildlife Resources Law Enforcement and Parks Law Enforcement over the past year. 
 



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 5 
 
 
 Deputy Commission Bryson stated he did not have exact numbers for this question. He further 
stated that approximately 13,000-14,000 violations were reported by WRD Law Enforcement and 
approximately 800-900 violations were reported by Parks Law Enforcement. 
 
 Mr. Jones stated he would like Deputy Commission Bryson to comment on how this 
reorganization will affect local law enforcement. 
 
 Deputy Commissioner Bryson stated that DNR would be requesting that local law enforcement 
officers ride through state parks when they are on patrol in the area. 
 
 Chairman Leebern stated there were several people signed up to speak on the proposed 
rulemaking. He further stated that each speaker should limit their comments to three minutes. He 
added he would call on the speakers in the order in which they had signed up to speak. 
 
 Harlan Proveaux spoke in support of the creation of a Law Enforcement Division, because it 
would eliminate duplication of services and reduce liability. 
 
 John B. Edwards, Peace Officers Association of Georgia, spoke in support of creating a Law 
Enforcement Division because consolidating the DNR Law Enforcement would create a unified chain of 
command and increase officer safety.  
 
 Todd Holbrook, Georgia Wildlife Federation, spoke in opposition. He stated the data collected 
during the public comment period and was presented to the Board members had been manipulated by 
the DNR staff. He further stated the public comment period and public hearing were not adequate.  
 
 Neill Herring spoke in opposition. He stated the data presented to the Board members regarding 
the public comment period had been manipulated by DNR management.  
 
 Don Cheek, retired Law Enforcement, spoke in support because creating a Law Enforcement 
Division would give the Department a greater ability to focus on law enforcement efforts and activities.  
 
 Reggie Dickey, Georgia Hunting and Fishing Federation, spoke in support. He stated he had 
received no negative comments from the members of the Georgia Hunting and Fishing Federation. He 
further stated the creation of a Law Enforcement Division would streamline the Department allowing it 
to better protect Georgia’s natural resources.  
 
 Lance LoRusso spoke in support of the rulemaking citing liability concerns regarding the current 
structure of the Department. He stated the creation of a Law Enforcement Division would increase the 
safety of DNR Law Enforcement officers and reduce legal liability for the Department by having a 
consistent hiring and training process. 
 
 McIntosh County Sheriff Bobby McLemore spoke in support. He stated he would like to thank 
the Department for creating a Division which is directed and commanded by law enforcement officers.  
 
 Montgomery County Sheriff Ladson O’Connor spoke in support because creating a Law 
Enforcement Division would create a unified chain of command.  
 
  
 



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 6 
 
 

Major Scott Brunson, Statesboro Police Department, spoke in support. He stated the creation of 
a Law Enforcement Division would have a positive impact on Conservation Rangers and local law 
enforcement.  
 
 Chairman Lambert stated there were no other speakers and opened the floor for Board 
members to comment.  
 
 Dr. Watt stated his appreciation for everyone who commented on the proposed rulemaking. He 
further stated that receiving this public input helps the Board make better informed decisions.  
 
 Mr. Davis stated he was personally encouraged by the amount of comments received. He 
further stated he did not believe there was any manipulation involved in the public comment process. 
He added he would like to express his support for the creation of a Law Enforcement Division.  
 
 Chairman Leebern stated that the Board does not take important decisions such as this lightly. 
He further stated he appreciated the comments received in support and in opposition.  
 
 Chairman Leebern called for a motion. 
 
 A motion was made by Dr. Watt, seconded by Mr. Lambert and carried unanimously that the 
Board approve the proposed amendments to Rule 391-1-1-.01 and repeal of Rule 391-1-1-.02. (Copy of 
proposed amendments and proposed repeal attached hereto and made a part hereof) 
 
 Commissioner Williams called on Jud Turner, Director of the Environmental Protection Division, 
for a division update.  
 
 Director Turner gave an update on staffing changes within EPD; consent orders and permits 
concerning the Ogeechee River; and a meeting of the Lower Flint Water Council to discuss the 
Governor’s Water Supply Program.  
 
 Commissioner Williams called on Becky Kelley, Director of Parks, Recreation, and Historic Sites, 
for a division update.  
 
 Directory Kelley gave an update on the lodge parks transition to NGMA; public meetings with 
local communities to discuss parks and historic sites in local areas; and the “Great Gopher Chase” 
initiative to name the Parks gopher mascot. 
 
 Commissioner Williams called on Dave Crass, Director of the Historic Preservation Division, for a 
division update.  
 
 Director Crass gave an update on the underground waterway at Skidaway Island and the 
ongoing archeological research at Camp Lawton. 
 
 Commissioner Williams called on Dan Forster, Director of the Wildlife Resources Division, for a 
division update.  
 
  
 
 



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 7 
 
 

Director Forster gave an update on the Georgia Southern University Shooting Range Center; 
announcement of Mark Whitney as the new Deputy Director of WRD; “Operation Dry Water”; 
“Georgia’s Statewide Action Plan” renewal; the ongoing efforts to keep animals off the At-Risk Species 
List; and the siting of a flat head catfish in the Ogeechee River.  
 
 Commissioner Williams stated that with no further business, his report was concluded.  
 
 Chairman Leebern called on Ray Lambert, Chairman of the Environmental Protection 
Committee, for his report. 
 
 A motion was made by Mr. Lambert, seconded by Mr. Bagwell and carried unanimously that the 
Board adopt the Resolution to approve the proposed amendments to Rules for Air Quality Control, 
Chapter 391-3-1, pertaining to permit fees. (Copy of the proposed amendments attached hereto and 
made a part hereof) 
 
 A motion was made by Mr. Lambert, seconded by Ms. Addison and carried unanimously that the 
Board adopt the Resolution to approve the proposed amendments to Rules for Radioactive Materials, 
Chapter 391-3-17, pertaining to Licensing Fees. (Copy of proposed amendments attached hereto and 
made a part hereof) 
 
 A motion was made by Mr. Lambert, seconded by Ms. Addison and carried unanimously that the 
Board adopt the Resolution to approve the proposed amendments to Rules for Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control, Chapter 391-3-7, pertaining to stream buffer variance procedures and criteria. 
(Copy of proposed amendments attached hereto and made a part hereof) 
 
 A motion was made by Mr. Lambert, seconded by Mr. Johnson and carried unanimously that the 
Board approve the proposed Grant Criteria for Regional Water Planning Implementation Seed Grant 
SFY2014. (Copy of Grant Criteria attached hereto and made a part hereof) 
 
 Chairman Leebern called on William Bagwell, Chairman of the Land Acquisition Committee, for 
his report. 
 
 A motion was made by Mr. Bagwell, seconded by Mr. Yancey and carried unanimously that the 
Board adopt the Resolution to authorize the Commissioner to seek State Properties Commission 
approval of the recommendation to support the change of use of 3.146± acres of a Heritage Preserve 
dedicated area, the Robert Byrd Tract- Oaky Woods Wildlife Management Area, Houston County. 
(Resolution attached hereto and made a part hereof) 
 
 A motion was made by Mr. Bagwell, seconded by Mr. Sinyard and carried unanimously that the 
Board adopt the Resolution to authorize the Commissioner to seeks State Properties Commission 
approval to grant a Revocable License and Permanent Easement over 3.146± acres by the State 
Properties Commission and the General Assembly to Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) for 
the purpose of widening State Route 96 at the Robert Byrd Tract – Oaky Woods Wildlife Management 
Area, Houston County. (Resolution attached hereto and made a part hereof)  
 
  
 
 
 
 



Minutes – Board of Natural Resources 
June 25, 2013 
Page 8 
 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Bagwell, seconded by Dr. Watt and carried unanimously that the 
Board adopt the Resolution to authorize the Commissioner to seek State Properties Commission 
approval for the granting of a Revocable License and Permanent Easement of 0.72± acres by the State 
Properties Commission and the General Assembly to the Georgia Power Company for the purpose of 
installing, maintaining, and operating underground utility lines providing power to the trash compactor 
at Sapelo Island Wildlife Management Area, McIntosh County. (Resolution attached hereto and made a 
part hereof) 
 
 Chairman Leebern stated the Board would be forming a Law Enforcement Committee. He 
further stated Dr. Philip Watt would chair this Committee. He added Mr. Bill Jones would now serve as 
Chairman of the Parks, Recreation, and Historic Sites Committee. 
 
 Chairman Leebern stated there would be no Board meeting in July.  
 
 Chairman Leebern stated the Natural Resources Foundation would be hosting a gala at the 
Governor’s Mansion in August and all Board members would be invited to attend.  
 
 There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.  
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                               
 
 
 
              
                                                                                                                    Robert D. Leebern, Jr., Chairman 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
      
Ray P. Lambert, Jr., Secretary  
  
 
 
                                                                                                                                             


